1988

Marion H. Webb and Jill W. Brown v. Vantage Income Properties, Bruce Honey, and Steve Holcomb : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

JURISDICTION

The Court's Jurisdiction over this appeal arises from Utah Constitution Article VIII, § 3, Utah Code Annotated § 78-2-2(3)(j) (1953, as amended) and Rule 3, Rules of the Utah Supreme Court.

NATURE OF PROCEEDINGS

This appeal is from an order granting default judgment in favor of Respondents Marian H. Webb and Jill W. Brown and against Appellants Vantage Income Properties, Bruce Honey and Steve Holcomb under Respondents' First Cause of Action alleging violations of the Utah Racketeering Influences and Criminal Enterprise Act ("RICE"), under §§ 76-10-1602(p), (q), and (s) of the act as was in effect at the time of the complaint. Default judgment was entered in favor of Respondents upon Defendants' refusal to produce

certain documents, claiming privilege against self-incrimination under the Constitution of Utah and the United States Constitution.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

1. Did Appellants properly assert their privilege against self-incrimination by refusing to provide sales records and customer lists to Respondents who sought such information for the expressed purpose of establishing a pattern of racketeering activity on the part of Appellants?

2. Did Appellant Holcomb waive his right to claim privilege against self-incrimination by making certain non-incriminating statements?

3. May a Plaintiff sustain an action for civil remedies under the criminal RICE statute without first alleging specific actions of a Defendant in the Complaint that would warrant an indictment if presented to a grand jury?

4. Should the Appellants be awarded costs and attorney's fees for this appeal which has been brought to protect their constitutional right against self-incrimination?

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS

The constitutional provisions relevant to the determination of this case, copies of which are attached hereunder as Exhibit "A" to the Addendum, are as follows:

1. Constitution of Utah, Article I, § 12.
2. Constitution of the United States, Amendment V.

3. Utah Code Annotated, §§ 76-10-1602(p), (q), and (s)
(1953, as amended) as in effect at the time of the Complaint.
4. Utah Code Annotated, §76-10-1801 et seq. (1953, as amended)
5. Utah Code Annotated, § 77-11-5 (1953, as amended).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Nature of the Case. This is an appeal from an order granting default judgment in favor of Respondents against Appellants by reason of Appellants refusal to produce documents in a civil action brought under the Utah Racketeering Influences and Criminal Enterprise Act ("RICE") as it was in effect at the time the alleged violations occurred. Although the action was civil, the statute is a criminal statute that provides civil remedies if the Plaintiff is successful in proving that Defendant violated the criminal provisions of the statute.

2. Course of Proceedings. During the discover phase of the case in early 1987, Appellants in this action refused to provide certain documents requested by Respondents for the expressed purpose of proving that Appellants had committed crimes under the statute. Appellants claimed privilege against self-incrimination under the Constitution of Utah and the Constitution of the United States. In October 1987, Respondents brought a motion to compel and for sanctions against Appellants. Appellants restated their claim of privilege against self-incrimination, and in December 1987 the matter was again brought before the Trial Court, which ordered that if the documents were not produced, default judgment would be entered against the Appellants. In late December 1987,

Appellants attempted to obtain permission to appeal the interlocutory order of Trial Court. Permission was refused, and Appellants informed the Trial Court that they would not waive their right to claim privilege against self-incrimination and refused to produce the documents sought by Respondent.

3. Disposition at Trial Court. The Trial Court below ruled against Appellants' assertion of privilege against self-incrimination and entered default judgment against Appellants Honey and Vantage Income Properties on March 28, 1988, and against Appellant Holcomb on September 27, 1988 in the amount of \$141,232.65.

RELEVANT FACTS

Respondents commenced an action against Appellants on February 21, 1986 for fraud and racketeering based on a real estate transaction that had taken place the previous summer wherein Respondents had purchased an apartment complex located at 576-604 Vine Street in Murray, Utah (Record, Pages 2-10). Appellants had represented Respondents as their real estate broker in the transaction. As a basis for racketeering, Respondents alleged actions and omissions of Appellants that constituted communications fraud, as set forth in § 76-10-1801 et seq. of the Utah Code Annotated, and the consummation of an alleged fraudulent real estate sale in violation of the Utah Racketeering Influences and Criminal Enterprise Act ("RICE") under §§ 76-10-1602(p), (q), and (s) of the act as was in effect at the time of the complaint (Record, Pages 8-10). A statutory prerequisite for a racketeering cause of action under

RICE was the establishment of a pattern of racketeering activity, defined under § 76-10-1602(4) as:

. . . at least two episodes of racketeering conduct which have the same or similar objectives, results, participants, victims or methods of commission, or are otherwise interrelated by distinguishing characteristics and are not isolated events, provided at least one of the episodes occurred after the effective date of this part and the last of which occurred within five years after the commission of a prior episode of racketeering conduct.

On April 8, 1987, after a motion to compel had been granted to Respondents (Record, Page 89), Appellants responded to specific requests by Respondents for the production of documents, which included customer sales records of Vantage Income Properties and customer lists of Defendant Steve Holcomb, by refusing to produce such documents, claiming privilege against self-incrimination (Record, Pages 135-138).

On October 5, 1987, Respondents brought a motion to strike Appellants answers and enter default by reason of Appellants' failure to produce the documents (Record, Pages 101-115). Appellants argued at the hearing that the only fact that could be proven from such documents was a pattern of racketeering based on previous real estate transactions (Record, Page 122). Accordingly, they argued, such testimony would be incriminating because it would establish that Appellants had indeed committed a crime.

Respondents asserted on page 5 of their memorandum in support of the October 5th motion that the information was needed to assist in the preparation of Respondents' case of fraud and racketeering (Record, Page 107). At the hearing, Mr. Newton, counsel for Respondents, argued that Respondents were seeking others who

might have similar claims against the Appellants to support their allegations of a pattern of racketeering and thus assist Respondents efforts to get Mr. Holcomb "off of the streets" (Record, Page 180).

the Court ruled that the answers provided in the responses to Respondents' request for production of documents that were delivered to Respondents on April 8, 1987 were inadequate under the Rules of Civil Procedure, and further, did not state sufficiently the grounds upon which Appellants claimed a privilege against self-incrimination (Record, Pages 134, 139-141). The Court ordered Appellants to file supplementary responses within 10 days. Supplemental responses were filed by Appellants on October 14, 1987 that conformed with the Rules of Civil Procedure and provided a more detailed basis of Appellants' claims for 5th amendment protection (Addendum, Exhibit "B"). Responding therein to the specific request for sales records and customer lists, Appellants stated the following:

Defendants object to producing such information and/or documents, and invoke their 5th amendment privilege against self-incrimination for the following reasons. Plaintiffs have stated repeatedly, in their oral arguments before this Court on April 8, 1987, in their Memorandum in Support of Striking Defendants' Answer on file herein, and in their oral argument before this Court on October 5, 1987, that the expressed purpose of obtaining information under this request is to discover information that will support their claims under the First Cause of Action in the Complaint herein against Defendants for alleged violations of the Utah Racketeering Influences and Criminal Enterprise Act ("RICE") specifically enumerated in §§ 76-10-1602(p),(q) and (s).

The specific provisions allegedly violated by Defendants, as set forth in the First Cause of Action in the Complaint herein, constitute a second degree

felony in the State of Utah. §§ 76-10-1602 and 76-10-1603 state that a "pattern of racketeering activity" must be proved to establish liability. Plaintiffs further assert in their First, Second and Fourth Causes of Action that Defendants have committed acts or omissions that would constitute criminal violations of the Communications Fraud statute found at § 76-10-1801 of the Criminal Code which would also constitute a second degree felony.

Plaintiffs seek to support their allegations of racketeering in the Complaint herein by "fishing" through the sales records and customers of Steve Holcomb in an attempt to find anyone who might join in Plaintiffs' criminal allegations and thus establish a "pattern of racketeering activity." This was expressly represented by Paul Newton, counsel for Plaintiffs at the hearing on October 5, 1987, who stated substantially, or words to the effect, that Plaintiffs wanted to find other customers who were no longer "loyal" to Mr. Holcomb, and assist Plaintiffs in their efforts to "get him off the streets."

If Defendants are required to produce such documents, and, if Plaintiffs are successful in establishing sufficient evidence from such records that Defendants have indeed violated provisions of RICE and thus committed a second degree felony, then such violations shall have been established through their own testimony, in direct conflict with their expressed desire and constitutional privilege not to provide any testimony that would tend to incriminate themselves. It is well established that Plaintiffs have a burden of establishing such criminal liability on the face of their complaint in order to obtain the treble damages they seek as civil relief under §76-10-1605. If Plaintiffs have carried their burden, there is no need for further supportive discovery. If they have not plead violations of RICE sufficient to establish liability under RICE, which in this case is clear they have not, then they cannot force Defendants, in violation of their 5th amendment rights, to provide information that could be used in any way to establish such liability and prove that Defendants had indeed committed a second degree felony.

Plaintiffs assert that Defendant Holcomb has previously waived his 5th amendment rights in testimony found on pages 48, 54, 59, 60, and 84-88 of Mr. Holcomb's deposition of December 4, 1986, which deposition remains unpublished in this action. Defendants assert that Defendant Holcomb has made no representation whatsoever on those pages, or at any other part of said deposition

that he has committed any act that can be construed as a criminal violation of RICE or any other criminal statute that would constitute a waiver of his 5th amendment rights, nor has he testified to any matter therein that can only be verified or established by a review of the sales records of Vantage Income Properties or customer lists of Steve Holcomb.

Mr. Newton argued before the Court on October 5, 1987 that Mr. Holcomb had testified that there were numerous times that he had to take property back, implying to the Court that Mr. Holcomb had committed alleged criminal acts. As clearly stated on the pages referred to by Plaintiffs' counsel in the deposition, each decision by Mr. Holcomb to take property back was based on a business judgment that served the interests of all parties concerned, and in no instance were the Defendants ever compelled to take back such properties.

In summary, Defendants object to providing information in the sales records or from Mr. Holcomb's list of customers on the basis that any information found by Plaintiffs in such records and lists that could support their expressed goal of proving their allegations of criminal violations by Defendants, and establish a pattern of racketeering, or any other provision of the RICE or Communications Fraud statutes, would accordingly be incriminating, and consequently Defendants invoke their 5th amendment right not to testify in any manner against themselves. This objection is supported by Defendants' Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion to Strike Defendants' Answer which was previously filed in this matter and argued before the Court on October 5, 1987, which memorandum is incorporated herein by reference.

On October 29, 1987, Respondents filed another motion for sanctions against Appellants on the basis that the Appellants had filed a response that did nothing more than "reiterate their prior arguments concerning their privilege against self incrimination. They have provided this court with no more information than they previously have provided concerning how this information might incriminate them" (Record, Page 142-154).

The matter was argued on December 7, 1987. The Court ruled

that (1) Defendant Steve Holcomb had made a waiver of his 5th amendment privilege in a deposition by stating, "Our company was very proud of the fact that in the hundreds of apartment houses that we sold, we had very few people that were dissatisfied with the service we had performed," and (2) that the Appellants could not assert the Fifth Amendment as an objection and privilege to Respondents' request for production of documents when Appellants had "failed to show and would not represent that there is anything contained within such documents that is incriminating" (Record, Page 196-198).

On December 24, 1987, Appellants filed a Petition for Permission to Appeal Interlocutory Order with the Utah Supreme Court in an attempt to have the matter of privilege against self-incrimination reviewed before Appellants would have to choose between incurring the sanctions of the court by refusing to comply with its order, or irrevocably waiving their rights by providing the information. In early January, 1988 the Utah Supreme Court denied Appellants' petition, and pursuant to an order made by the District Court on January 4, 1988, Appellants gave notice to Respondents of their intent not to produce the documents requested by Respondents and thereby waive Appellants' claim of privilege against self-incrimination (Record, Page 212). On February 1, 1988, upon motion by Respondents, the Court struck Appellants' answers to Respondents' First Cause of Action, entered Default Judgment against Appellants in favor of Respondents, certified his order for appeal under Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, and stayed

proceedings on the remaining causes of action pending the outcome of the appeal (Record, Page 217 and 251).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 12 of the Constitution of Utah provide that no person shall be compelled to be a witness against himself. The privilege may be invoked if an answer **might** incriminate and there is some possibility that a criminal action **might** be filed; [Rogers v. United States, 340 U.S. 367, 374-75 (1951)], even though no criminal charges are pending [Counselman v. Hitchcock, 142 U.S. 547, 562 (1892)]. The privilege against self-incrimination was extended to the production of documents in the landmark case of Boyd v. United States, 116 U.S. 616 (1886), and has since been held to require the elements of (1) compulsion (2) of a testimonial communication, and that (3) the communication could be incriminating, such that it could furnish "a link in the chain of evidence" that could be used to prosecute the individual invoking the privilege, [United States v. Hoffman, 341 U.S. 479, 486-87 (1951)]

The order of trial court required Appellants to produce documents that may have incriminated them, in spite of their continuous, and good faith efforts to inform the Trial Court of the danger of self-incrimination. The order to produce the sales records and customer lists over Appellants privilege against self-incrimination was patently unconstitutional.

Trial Court also erred in its ruling that Appellant Holcomb

waived his right to claim privilege against self-incrimination by making statements that are obviously not incriminating in and of themselves.

Finally, Respondents should not be allowed to recover, even by a default judgment, under complaint allegations that on their face do not sufficiently state a cause of action under the statutory requirements for racketeering; nor should Appellants incur the cost of judgment and this appeal as a price to pay for their constitutional privilege against self-incrimination.

ARGUMENT

POINT NO. 1: APPELLANTS HAVE PROPERLY ASSERTED THEIR CONSTITUTIONAL PRIVILEGE AGAINST SELF-INCRIMINATION IN REFUSING TO PRODUCE CERTAIN DOCUMENTS AND THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ENTERING DEFAULT JUDGMENT AGAINST APPELLANTS.

The basis for privilege against self-incrimination is found in Article I Section 12 of the Utah Constitution and in the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The United States Supreme Court has interpreted the privilege against self-incrimination in numerous cases, many of which apply directly to the issues raised in this appeal.

To sustain the privilege, it need only be evident from the implications of the question, [emphasis added] in the setting in which it is asked, that a responsive answer to the question, or an explanation of why it cannot be answered might be dangerous because injurious disclosure could result. [Hoffman, at 486-87]

The Court further stated in Hoffman that an individual claiming such privilege need not give a detailed explanation of why the privilege is invoked, because such disclosure in and of itself could be incriminating.

. . . if the witness, upon interposing his claim were required to prove the hazard in the sense in which a claim is usually required to be established in court, he would be compelled to surrender the very protection which the privilege is designed to guarantee. [Id. at 486]

In the case at bar, the implications of the question are simple, and have been restated by Respondents on numerous occasions; they want to find information to support a pattern of racketeering on the part of Appellants by perusing the customer lists of Appellant Steve Holcomb and the business records of Vantage Income Properties, **even though such information bears no relevance whatsoever to the specific, expressed allegations set forth in Plaintiffs' Complaint** [emphasis added]. The only value of such information, is to provide collateral proof that Appellants have engaged in a "pattern of racketeering" and in doing so, have violated the criminal provisions of RICE.

IF Appellants had produced such documents, and IF Respondents had successfully found information sufficient to support their allegations of a "pattern of racketeering", then the establishment of that fact would have come from Appellants own testimony by providing Respondents with incriminating evidence to show that indeed, they had committed crimes and were liable to Respondents.

Both parties to this appeal have relied on a Utah case, First Federal Savings and Loan Association of Salt Lake City v. Schamanek, 684 P.2d 1257, 1267 (Utah, 1984) which cited a federal case, Davis v. Fendler, 650 F.2d 1154, 1160 (9th Cir. 1981) stating that in order to assert a 5th amendment privilege, it requires at a minimum, a good faith effort to provide the trial

judge with sufficient information from which he can make an intelligent evaluation of the claim. This point of law was stated in Schamanek to contrast the conduct of the Defendant Gail Schamanek, who had been sued by First Federal Savings and Loan over a cashier's check that was allegedly cashed, and then retrieved by the defendant when the teller's attention was diverted. In that case, the defendant made no effort whatsoever to explain the basis of her 5th amendment claim of privilege, and refused to comply with an order of the Court demanding that she submit to discovery. The Utah Supreme Court provided a complete synopsis of all the 5th amendment holdings that could have protected Ms. Schamanek, had she only made a good faith effort to tell the Court why the information requested could have incriminated her. She made no effort, and consequently her answer was stricken.

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