1988

# Marian H. Webb and Jill W. Brown v. Steve Holcomb and Bruce Honey, Vantage Income Properties : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

To properly invoke the Fifth Amendment privilege against self-incrimination, a defendant must generally show (1) that a response might be incriminatory, and (2) a possibility of criminal prosecution. The trial court found that defendants failed to show the first element, and this finding is supported by the record. Also, the record shows that defendants failed to show the second element.

An additional requirement applicable to this case, since it deals with production of documents, is to show that such production would be a testimonial communication. Here production would not have been a testimonial communication, since the documents were already identified in prior testimony.

A defendant waives his privilege against self-incrimination by putting forth his own version of the facts. Defendants waived their privilege in this case as to Vantage's sales records by Holcomb's deposition statements based on those records.

An additional ground not considered by the trial but upon which the trial court's ruling can be sustained is that a custodian of partnership records may not claim the privilege as to partnership records in his possession. The disputed records in this case were the sales records of Vantage, and therefore this rule applies.

Plaintiffs' RICE allegations are sufficient under traditional pleading standards. This Court should decline to adopt the standard articulated in Bache Halsey-Stuart Shields

Inc. v. Tracy Collins Bank & Trust Co., 558 F. Supp. 1042 (D. Utah 1983), which has been rejected by numerous courts.

Under the American rule, defendants are not entitled to recover attorney fees on appeal. Defendants are not penalized by having to pay their own attorney fees.

### ARGUMENT

#### **POINT I: Standard of Review**

In reviewing a default judgment entered as a sanction for refusal to produce discovery, the appellate court takes the allegations of the complaint as true and conclusive as to the facts. United Nuclear Corp. v. General Atomic Co., 96 N.M. 155, 629 P.2d 231, 316 (1980), appeal dismissed, 451 U.S. 901 (1981). See also Brown v. Kenron Aluminum and Gas Corp., 477 F.2d 526 (8th Cir. 1973); Olsen v. Kirkham, 720 P.2d 217 (Idaho App. 1986).

#### **POINT II: The Trial Court Did Not Err in Denying Defendants' Claim of Privilege under the Fifth Amendment**

The trial court did not err in denying defendants' claim of privilege against self-incrimination under the Fifth Amendment. The trial court's ruling is in accordance with federal law governing (A) the claim of privilege generally and (B) the claim of privilege in response to requests to produce documents.

##### **A. Claim of the Privilege Generally**

At the outset, it should be noted that defendants' claim of privilege before the trial court was based solely on the Fifth Amendment to the federal constitution, and not on article I,

section 12 of the Utah Constitution. (R. 120, 178; Add. 34.) The first time that defendants have claimed the privilege under the Utah Constitution is on appeal. Defendants are precluded from doing so under this Court's rule that appellants may not raise issues on appeal that were not argued before the trial court.

This Court has previously had occasion to grapple with the scope of the Fifth Amendment privilege. In First Federal Savings & Loan Association v. Schamanek, 684 P.2d 1257 (Utah 1984), this Court thoroughly analyzed the leading federal cases governing the assertion of the Fifth Amendment privilege. The general rule culled from those cases was stated as follows:

The privilege may be invoked if an answer might incriminate and there is some possibility that a criminal action might be filed.

684 P.2d at 1262 (emphasis in original omitted), citing, inter alia, Rogers v. United States, 340 U.S. 367, 374-75, 71 S. Ct. 438, 442-43 (1951). In other words, the two requirements for claiming the privilege are (1) that the response sought might incriminate and (2) that there is a possibility of criminal prosecution.

Regarding the first requirement, it need only be evident from the implications of the question asked that a responsive answer to the question or an explanation of why it cannot be answered might be dangerous because injurious disclosure might result. 684 P.2d at 1263, quoting United States v. Hoffman, 341 U.S. 479, 486-87, 71 S. Ct. 814, 818-19 (1951). It is not

enough, however, to merely declare that an answer will incriminate:

To sustain an assertion of the privilege against self-incrimination, a party must show that the responses sought to be compelled might be incriminating. This requires . . . "at minimum, a good faith effort to provide the trial judge with sufficient information from which he can make an intelligent evaluation of the claim." [684 P.2d at 1266-67 (quoting Davis v. Fendler, 650 F.2d 1154, 1160 (9th Cir. 1981)).]

It is the trial judge, and not the claimant, who is the final arbiter of the claim. Id.

Regarding the second requirement, the possibility of a criminal prosecution must be a "real danger," not a "mere imaginary possibility." Id., quoting Rogers v. United States, 340 U.S. 367, 374-75, 71 S. Ct. 438, 442-43 (1951). Again, this would also require a good faith effort to provide the trial judge with sufficient information to determine that the possibility of criminal prosecution is real and not merely imaginary.

In this case, defendants have failed to satisfy either of these requirements:

1. Showing that response might incriminate. The trial court found that defendants had failed to show and would not even represent that the contents of the documents might incriminate them. (R. 197; Add. 44) A review of defendant's response to plaintiffs' request for production shows this finding to be supported. At most, the defendants' response gives a theoretical explanation of how the documents could be used to incriminate defendants; nowhere does it show or affirmatively represent that

the contents might be incriminating. (See add. 33-37.) Accordingly, the trial court correctly concluded that defendants had failed to supply sufficient information from which the court could make an intelligent evaluation of their claim. (R. 197; Add. 44.)

2. Showing possibility of criminal prosecution. The defendants also failed to show or even represent that there existed any real danger of criminal prosecution. Nowhere in the record did they disclose the possibility of a pending criminal investigation or even that the police had talked to them. Their response shows that, at most, the possibility of such prosecution is an "imaginary possibility." Although defendants assert that Mr. Newton threatened to get Mr. Holcomb "off the streets," and imply by this assertion a threat of criminal prosecution, the trial court's ruling rejects such an implication. The trial court's finding on this point should be sustained.

In other words, the trial court's ruling is a determination that defendants' claim of privilege was not genuine but merely another attempt to frustrate the discovery process. Defendants could have shown their claim to be genuine in a number of ways, such as showing the documents to the trial court in camera, disclosing whether they were subject to a pending police investigation, or otherwise making some effort to explain how the contents of the documents might actually be incriminatory and how defendants were actually in danger of criminal prosecution. Defendants failed to make any such effort. Absent this, the



trial court was justified under the federal authorities reviewed in Schamanek in denying defendants' claim of privilege.

A case factually similar to this case is Davis v. Fendler, 650 F.2d 1154 (9th Cir. 1981), in which the defendant was served with interrogatories and at first objected to them without making a claim of privilege. Later the defendant claimed the privilege because he was involved in a simultaneous, overlapping criminal action. The trial judge ordered the defendant to set forth his claims of privilege more specifically so the judge could assess their merits. Defendant responded with "answers" that simply restated the same objections that the trial judge had found insufficient. The district court struck defendant's answer and entered default judgment against the defendant for \$37.9 million. The appellate court affirmed, stating:

[T]he district court did not abuse its discretion in entering default judgment against appellant. The sanction was imposed because of [defendant's] persistent unresponsiveness to both informal discovery requests and formal court orders. [650 F.2d at 1161.]

In this case, as in Davis v. Fendler, defendants did not at first claim the privilege, but simply failed to respond to the requests to produce. Furthermore, defendants engaged in "persistent unresponsiveness" to discovery requests. Over and over defendants failed to respond to discovery requests until motions to compel were filed against them. (See R. 32-33, 58-59, 89-90, 103-104.) Thus, the trial court did not abuse its discretion in granting default against defendants.

On appeal defendants again do not affirmatively assert that the contents of the documents might incriminate them. Instead, they reiterate their abstract argument that since plaintiffs could use the contents of the documents to prove their civil claims under RICE, which has a criminal counterpart, the documents could, in theory, be used to incriminate them.

If this argument were accepted, it would have far-reaching effects on discovery effort in civil claims under RICE or any other civil cause of action, such as fraud, that has a criminal counterpart. It is clear that every defendant of such a claim could assert the privilege on the same basis as the defendants in this case, i.e., they could assert that in theory their responses to discovery could be used to prove the elements of the criminal counterpart. If such a theoretical assertion of the privilege is sustainable, then all defendants of such civil claims could shut down discovery efforts against them even though a real threat of criminal prosecution does not actually exist. Plaintiffs ask the Court not to open up such a Pandora's box, which could end up undoing RICE and all other civil claims that have criminal counterparts.

Moreover, contrary to defendants' argument plaintiffs have not sought the documents solely to prove RICE. Plaintiffs have sought the documents to verify the statements of Holcomb that over 70% of his customers were repeat business. That issue is relevant not only to plaintiffs' RICE claims but also to plaintiffs' fraud claims and prayer for punitive damages.

**B. Claim of Privilege in the Context of Requests to Produce.**

When the privilege is claimed in response to requests to produce documents, an additional requirement exists. As this Court observed in Schamanek, "the Fifth Amendment does not independently proscribe the compelled production of every sort of incriminating evidence but applies only when the accused is compelled to make a testimonial communication that is incriminating." 684 P.2d at 1264, quoting Fisher v. United States, 425 U.S. 391, 408, 96 S. Ct. 1569, 1579 (emphasis in original).

In other words, since the Fifth Amendment only proscribes being compelled to be a witness against oneself, the production of documents falls within its scope only if such production has a testimonial aspect.<sup>5</sup> The documents themselves, since they are already in existence, cannot be considered as testimony.

Thus it has been held that to sustain the privilege in response to a request to produce documents, a court must both find the contents of the documents to be incriminating and find that the act of producing the documents is a testimonial communication. Whether the act of production is testimonial depends on the facts of the case. 684 P.2d at 1264; see Fisher v. United States, 425 U.S. 391, 410, 96 S. Ct. 1569, 1581 (1976).

---

<sup>5</sup>The same requirement would apply under article I, section 22 of the Utah Constitution, which this Court has interpreted to be no broader than its federal counterpart. Sandy City v. Larson, 733 P.2d 137, 138 (Utah 1987); see First Federal Savings v. Schamanek, supra.

In this case, the trial court's ruling supports the view that production of the documents would not be a testimonial communication. In his deposition, Holcomb had already testified as to the existence and identity of the documents sought through the requests to produce. Given this prior testimony, production of the documents would not also be a testimonial communication as to the existence or identity of the documents.

Therefore, based on this additional requirement that production of a document be testimonial in nature, the trial court's ruling should also be sustained.

**POINT III: Defendants Waived their Right to Claim the Privilege Against Self-Incrimination**

The trial judge also ruled that defendants waived their right to claim the privilege against self-incrimination by virtue of Holcomb's deposition statements asserting that Vantage had very few dissatisfied customers and identifying the sales records as the source of such information. This ruling was justified under the law and facts of the case.

It has been held that the disclosure of a fact waives the privilege against self-incrimination as to the details of the fact. Rogers v. United States, 340 U.S. 367, 373, 71 S. Ct. 438 (1951); In Re Corrugated Container Anti Trust Litigation, 661 F.2d 1145, 1158 (7th Cir. 1981). A contrary rule would "open the way to distortion of the facts by permitting a witness to select any stopping place in the testimony." Rogers v. United States, supra, 340 U.S. at 371. Thus, a witness who voluntarily testifies on his own behalf waives the right to invoke the

privilege as to matters raised by his own testimony. In choosing to testify, a witness must weigh the advantage of raising the privilege against the advantage of putting forth his own version of the facts. Brown v. United States, 356 U.S. 148, 155-56 (1958); In Re Candor Diamond Corp., 42 B.R. 916 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y. 1984).

In this case, Holcomb chose to put forth his own version of the facts, i.e., that very few of Vantage's customers were dissatisfied. In addition, he revealed that certain customers had sold their properties back to Vantage. Therefore, it is only fair that plaintiffs be allowed verify Holcomb's version by obtaining copies of the sales records identified by Holcomb so that plaintiffs can contact those customers. As mentioned previously, these lists could provide information relevant not only to plaintiffs' RICE claim, but also to plaintiffs claim for fraud and prayer for punitive damages. If, contrary to Holcomb's statement, many of Vantage's customer were dissatisfied, and that is the reason Vantage repurchased their property, it is possible that Vantage engaged in the same fraudulent practices against these customers as against the plaintiffs. Such a pattern of fraud would justify an award of punitive damages and would substantiate plaintiffs' fraud claim as well as the RICE claim.

**POINT IV: Defendants Can Not Claim the Privilege for Partnership Documents**

This Court has often held that it will affirm a trial court's decision whenever it can do so on a proper ground, even though it was not a ground on which the trial court relied in its

ruling. E.g., Bill Nay & Sons Excavating v. Neeley Construction Co., 677 P.2d 1120, 1123 (Utah 1984); Rice, Melby Enterprises v. Salt Lake County, 646 P.2d 696, 698 n.3 (1982). Such a ground may be considered even though it is raised for the first time on appeal. Buehner Block Co. v. UWC Associates, 752 P.2d 892, 894-95 (Utah 1988).

In this case, such an additional, proper ground to sustain the trial court exists. The rule is well-accepted, known as the "collective entity" rule, that where production of corporate or partnership records is sought, an individual holding such records in a representative capacity cannot claim the privilege against self-incrimination to avoid producing the records, even though the records might incriminate him personally. Bellis v. United States, 417 U.S. 85, 88, 94 S. Ct. 2179, 2183 (1974); Braswell v. United States, 108 S. Ct. 2284 (1988); 81 Am. Jur. 2d Witnesses § 48 (1976).

In Bellis v. United States, supra, the United States Supreme Court ruled that a partner in a three-man partnership could not rely on the privilege against self-incrimination as grounds for refusing to produce partnership records. The Court applied the collective entity rule even though the partnership had been dissolved. The rationale for the rule was that the privilege against self-incrimination applies only to natural persons and not artificial organizations. It followed that

[s]ince no artificial organization may utilize the personal privilege against compulsory self-incrimination, . . . an individual acting in his official capacity on behalf of the organization may

likewise not take advantage of his personal privilege.  
[417 U.S. at 90, 94 S. Ct. at 2184.]

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